NOT YET ACCEPTED FOR FILING - LATE FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/13/2019 8:00 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/14/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

CASE # 35572-1-III

97539-6

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 3, STATE OF WASHINGTON

REBEL CREEK TACKLE INC., Petitioner

v.

SETH BURRILL PRODUCTIONS INC. Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Floyd E. Ivey, WSBA #6888 IVEY Law Offices, P.S. Corp 7233 W. Deschutes Ave. Ste. C, Box #3 Kennewick, WA 99336 509 735 6622

Attorneys for Petitioner

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner Rebel Creek Tackle Inc. seeks review of the decision terminating review set forth in Part B, the Unpublished Opinion in .

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division III, issued its unpublished opinion on July 11, 2019. It is set forth in the Appendix as Exhibit A.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

a.JUDICIAL AUTHORITY, MOOTNESS, CR 11 SANCTIONS: Where a dispute regarding a Licensing Agreement which included a provision for arbitration, was commenced in 2012 in Spokane County Superior Court Case 13-2-01982-0 by a Motion per R.C.W. 7.04A.220 for conversion of an Arbitration Award to a Superior Court Order and Judgment, and where Case 13-2-01982-0 was not commenced by summons, complaint et al, and

where a Judgment was entered by the Spokane County Superior Court enforcing the Licensing Agreement as amended with said amendment requiring certain performance by June 1, 2016 and,

where multiple Motions were filed and decided by the trial court in Case 13-2-01982-0 in 2013 and 2015 and

where Petitioner for Discretionary Review motioned, in Case 13-2-01982-0 in 2017, regarding the same Licensing Agreement and Judgment and the performance required by the Judgment by June 1, 2016;

did the trial court have JUDICIAL AUTHORITY to determine arbitrability per R.C.W.

7.04A.060 and Davis, infra fn. 1 or was Petitioner to commence a new cause of action and

where the trial court decided that the Petitioner was required to commence a new cause of action, denied Petitioner's motion and imposed CR 11 SANCTIONS against Petitioner for its Motion being brought without a new cause of action, and

where the trial court's Denial of Petitioner's motion was appealed to Division III and an Arbitration commenced and was concluded and an Arbitration Award Terminating the License Agreement was rendered while the appeal was pending and

where Division III determined that the Arbitration Award terminating the License Agreement rendered MOOT issues of the trial court determining arbitrability with either referral to Arbitration or issues to be determined in the trial court;

did the issues of JUDICIAL AUTHORITY regarding Case 13-2-01982-0, arbitrability re: referral to arbitration or determination in the trial court or the requirement of a new cause of action, the Denial of Petitioner's Motion, the imposition of CR 11 SANCTIONS create issues of

"substantial public interest" and or suggest "conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a decision of another Court of Appeals",

requiring Division III to consider said issues despite its determination of MOOTNESS?

b.Where required performance within a specified time was not performed and where prior Motions for Contempt, for Injunction, and for Receiver had been heard and where by *Davis*, infra, and R.C.W. 7.04A.060 directed the trial court to decide arbitrability and the trial court held that Petitioner was required to commence a new cause of action without reference to arbitrability and where the trial court's case law and statutory direction was presented to the trial court and Respondent in Petitioner's Proposed Order and was argued to the trial court during the hearing, was Petitioner's decision to bring the Motion within "the bounds of a decision a reasonable person could make" was it not "patently clear that [the] claim [had] absolutely no chance of success" and where a reviewing court had held that the arbitrability decision making process required of the trial court was moot, is it necessary that the Petitioner's Petition for Discretionary Review be heard, *Skimming, infra*.

c.Where an appeal depends from a Spokane County Superior Court Case 13-2-01982-0 and the Division III Unpublished Opinion states that:

"To obtain relief, RCT needed to initiate a new cause of action (which has since been done)" and where in fact Case 13-2-01982-0 remained active and no new case has been opened, has the parenthetical "(which has since been done)" indicate that Division III engaged in ex parte contacts and or a supplementation of the record.

d.Where the trial court, upon denying the Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment<sup>1</sup>, imposed a CR 11 SANCTION against Petitioner, and on appeal the Court of Appeals confirmed the sanction referring, to colloquy between counsel and the court, without citation to the Report of Proceeding and where said or similar colloquy between the court and counsel does not exists and which is not found in the Report of Proceeding, Clerk's Papers or Memorandum or any pleading, and where the Report of Proceeding records substantively different colloquy between counsel and the Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit D Appendix

re: the basis for Petitioner's Motion for Cr 11 sanctions against Respondent, should the colloquy be considered on appeal regarding its recitation of a basis for the Petitioner's Motion for CR 11 sanctions and for the contention that Cr 11 sanctions imposed were not reasonably imposed?

e.MOOTNESS: Where, in Spokane County Superior Court case 13-2-01982-0, following the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion and the trial court's imposition of Cr 11 sanctions against Petitioner's counsel, an Arbitration is commenced and concluded with the Arbitrator's Award being issued before the conclusion of the appeal of the order denying Petitioner's motion and where issues at the trial court pertaining to Petitioner's motion focused on the basis for the trial court's imposition of Cr 11 sanctions, the Court of Appeals holds that issues regarding the denial of Petitioner's motion are moot and not considered on appeal, should the Court of Appeals nevertheless have determined wether the legal issues involved were both issues of substantial public interest to be considered and decided and issues of substance regarding the imposition of CR 11 sanctions rather than deciding that the issues were moot?

f.AUTHORITY OF THE TRIAL COURT: Where Spokane County Superior Court case 13-2-01982-0 was initiated by a Motion, per R.C.W. 7.04A,220, for an Order and Judgment depending from an Arbitration Decision in 2012, and where the trial court granted Judgment and, during subsequent years heard and ruled on motions in 2013 and 2015, did the trial court in 2017 have the authority to hear and decide Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment depending from the same 2012 Judgment.

g.AUTHORITY OF THE TRIAL COURT: Where Petitioner, in Spokane County Superior Court case 3-2-01982-0, which was commenced by Motion per R.C.W. 7.04A.220 following an Arbitrator's Award involving a License Agreement subject to arbitration, was the trial court to determine arbitrability or should the trial court order that a new cause of action was required and, so, would the trial court's refusal, to order whether the issues on Summary Judgment were to be decided by trial court or by arbitration, be in opposition to existing Washington state statutes and case law?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Rebel Creek Tackle Inc or RCT, and Respondent Seth Burrill Productions Inc. or SBP, entered into a licensing agreement in 2010 authorizing Respondent to sell Petitioner's patented devices. A dispute in 2012 was resolved in favor of Respondent in an AAA Arbitration. Respondent commenced Spokane County Superior Case 13-2-01982-0, with a Motion under R.C.W. 7.04A.220 for the entry of a judgment confirming the 2012 Arbitration Decision.

The 2012 Arbitration Decision amended a licensing provision to require certain performance by June 1, 2016. The trial court entered Judgment enforcing the licensing agreement as amended. In 2013 the trial court, in Case13-2-01982-0, considered and granted Motions for Contempt and for Injunction. In 2015 the trial court, in Case 13-2-01982-0, granted a Motion for the appointment of a Receiver. The Order granting the appointment of a receiver was appealed by Petitioner. While the appeal was pending the June 1, 2016 deadline for Respondent's performance passed evidence that the performance had not occurred. Petitioner

gave notice to the Respondent that the required sales had not been made, that the Licensing Agreement was terminated and Petitioner filed a Declaratory Judgment in the Appeal asserting the Respondent's asserting the Termination of the Licensing Agreement. Respondent's attorney, admitted in email and mail to Petitioner's attorney that Respondent had not performed and blamed, without recitation of the events, the Respondent's failure on Petitioner.

In 2017 Petitioner moved in Case 13-2-01982-0 for Summary Judgment for Termination of the License Agreement. The Licensing Agreement contained an arbitration provision. The Declaratory Judgment was within the Motion for Summary Judgment Appendix of Exhibits as filed in Case13-2-01982-0. The trial court did not consider arbitrability, held that a new cause of action was required, denied Petitioner's Motion and granted the Cr 11 sanctions.

The 2017 trial court denial of the Motion was appealed and the Division III Opinion is now the subject of this Motion for Discretionary Review. Appendix Exhibit A.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case involves the interrelation between a trial court, its role relative to deciding whether issues are decided in arbitration or by the trial court, how an Arbitration Award is converted to a Judgment, the authority of the trial court regarding a Superior Court case, Mootness and the application of Cr 11 sanctions.

The issues may be infrequently encountered by counsel, trial court or the appellate court. Issues of judicial authority, mootness, and sanctions are encountered with evidence of unfamiliarity, confusion and lack of comprehension of the trial court's role relating to judicial authority, Arbitration and the application of Cr 11.

THE TRIAL COURT AND ARBITATION: None of the Respondent, the trial court nor

Division III recognize the role of the trial court in determining arbitrability. Petitioner's Proposed Order<sup>2</sup>, served prior to the August 18, 2017 hearing, recited statute and case law regarding who decides whether arbitration or trial court. The trial court had the responsibility for determining arbitrability, and it erred in ruling that a new cause of action was obviously required..<sup>3</sup>

Petitioner addressed the trial court role re: who decides in colloquy<sup>4</sup> and did so in the

initial minutes of the MSJ hearing at RP 3/20-24 as follows:

MR. IVEY: May it please the Court and Counsel.

Your Honor, I believe there are three different matters that you will rule on today; one of them is the summary judgment brought by Rebel Creek to be granted, if not in the Superior Court then is it to be referred to arbitration,

The trial court did not abide by R.C.W. 7.04A.060 or Davis, supra footnote 2. Division

III agreed at Unpublished Opinion pages 11-12<sup>5</sup> stating : RCT lacked a proper basis for filing

a summary judgment motion because the motion was not tied to any existing legal

claims.

<sup>3</sup> CP 328-340 Appendix Exhibit C from Clerks Papers.; Davis v. General Dynamic Land Systems 152 Wn.App 715, 217 P.3d 1191 (Div 2, 2009) and for stay Everett Shipyard, Inc. v. Puget Sound Environmental Corp 155 Wn.App. 761, 231 P.3d 200(Div 1, 2010); *Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Employees of Peninsula*, 130 Wash.2d 401, 413, <u>924 P.2d 13</u> (1996); <u>RCW 7.04A.060</u> ("The court shall decide whether an agreement to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioner's Proposed Order, CP 328-340 Appendix Exhibit C

arbitrate exists or a controversy is subject to an agreement to arbitrate." ). The trial court had the responsibility for determining arbitrability, ...".

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RP 3/22-24; 7/22-8/1; 23/16-20; 24/18-20; 27/6-10; 27/16-18; 28/25-29/5;32/18-22; R.C.W. 7.04A.070 citing Davis v. General Dynamic Land Systems 152 Wn.App 715, 217 P.3d 1191 (Div 2, 2009) and for stay Everett Shipyard, Inc. v. Puget Sound Environmental Corp 155 Wn.App. 761, 231 P.3d 200(Div 1, 2010)
 <sup>5</sup> Division III Unpublished Opinion Appendix Exhibit A

Division III was in error in affirming the trial court and should be reversed.

The Respondent, trial court and Division III error in thinking that if arbitration there was not going to be new litigation and not a case commenced by Motion as did Case 13-2-01982-0.

A Superior Court Case implicitly confers authority to the trial court to engage all means necessary to carry that authority into effect. <u>R.C.W</u> 2<u>.</u>28<u>.</u>150 confers procedural authority on courts to adopt any suitable mode of proceeding to carry out a statutory directive where none is specifically pointed out and jurisdiction is otherwise conferred upon the court.<sup>6</sup>

Division III comments that RCT's motion is not supported by authenticated exhibits. Nevertheless, the trial court's option, if not decided in the trial court because of authentication, was to Order the case to Arbitration.

The court considered but did not Order Arbitration<sup>7</sup> but Arbitration commenced within one week and concluded with an Arbitrator's Award on January 22, 2018.

Division III, Opinion page 12, states without cite to authority that"

"RCT lacked a viable basis for requesting CR 11 sanctions against counsel for SBP. [and]... counsel for RCT simply stated that it was entitled to prevail on the merits of its request to terminate the Agreement. This does not come close to meeting the criteria for CR 11 sanctions...."

The reference "[counsel] simply stated that it was entitled to prevail...]" has no citation. But, the viable basis for Petitioner's requesting CR 11 sanctions is recognized in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R.C.W. 2.28.150; re Marriage of Langham and Kolde, 153 Wn.2d 553, 560, 106 P.3d 212 (2005); Abad v. Cozza, 128 Wn.2d 575, 588, 911 P.2d 376 (1996)Primark, Inc. v. Burien Gardens Associates, 63 Wn.App. 900, 906, 823 P.2d 1116 (Div. 1 1992); In re Marriage of Langham and Kolde, 153 Wn.2d 553, 560, 106 P.3d 212 (2005):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RP 3-7, 9, 12, 14-17, 19, 22-24, 27-31 etc where the court orders stay of Case 13-2-01982-0 and reconsiders.Report of Proceeding Appendix Exhibit B

Respondent's failure to find, by Respondent's own research or by reference to the research provided to Respondent and the trial court in Petitioner's Proposed Order<sup>8</sup>,

Respondent had no awareness of the Motion practice following an arbitration by arguing that new litigation was required with discovery and by admission that Respondent had no awareness of the court ordered stay when a case is Ordered to Arbitration by Respondent's statement re: stay when responding the court's question<sup>9</sup>:

"Counsel, what is your position on that? Counsel "I'd object. Not sure what the legal basis would be and...".

And Division III illustrated no awareness of arbitrability by its statement that: "A party's pleadings are not subject to CR 11 sanctions simply because they are unsuccessful....CR 11 is aimed at preventing baseless filings that are not grounded in fact or law. RCT failed to provide any explanation of how SBP's court filings (which were ultimately successful) failed to meet this standard.<sup>10</sup>

Division III's statement illustrates the baselessness of Respondent's filings in

being without grounding in fact or law as unaware of the court's role in arbitrability.

Footnote 1. Division III's statement that Respondent's "court filings (which were

ultimately successful) ...", stated by Division III without citation, illustrates the

misunderstanding by Division III re: arbitrability.

The trial court duty to determine arbitrability makes reasonable Petitioner's

motion, eliminates frivolousness and the basis of imposing CR 11 sanctions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 328-334 Appendix Exhibit C from Clerks Papers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> RP 27/lines 7-10 Report of Proceedings Appendix B

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Division III Decision page 11-12 Appendix Exhibit A

Spokane County Superior Court Case 13-2-01982-0 was commenced with Respondent's Motion under R.C.W. 7.04A.220. The Court entered an Order and Judgment rendering the Arbitrator's Award into a Spokane County Superior Court Judgment. That Superior Court Judgment was forever subject to the jurisdiction of the trial court until the case is concluded by an order. The trial court was thereby empowered to engage all means necessary to carry out that Judgment.

Case 13-2-01982-0 has a Motion Practice History: In 2013 Respondent brought a Motion for Contempt and a Motion for an Injunction. The trial court exercised its authority and granted the Motions. In 2015 Respondent brought a Motion for Appointment of Receiver. The Superior Court trial court granted the Motion.

While the Appeal of the Order Appointing Receiver was pending June 1, 2016 arrived which was the date in the Judgment in Case 13-2-01982-0 when Respondent was contractually required to have completed certain performance. Petitioner gave notice to SBP of Termination of Licensing Agreement and filed a Declaratory Judgment.

After the Appeal regarding Receivership was concluded in 2017, Petitioner brought a Motion for Summary Judgment in Case 13-2-01982-0, seeking Termination of the License.

While Respondent had brought Motions, Petitioner's motion was not perceived as allowed without commencement of a new cause of action. Neither Respondent, trial court nor Division III viewed the Petitioner's Motion to be subject to the jurisdiction of the trial court.

The authority of R.C.W. 2.28.150, R.C.W. 7.04A.060 and 7.04A.220 was not considered. The Respondent's understanding and misunderstanding was clarified in colloquy by Respondent

counsel's comment<sup>11</sup> that Case 13-2-01982-0 had commenced in 2012 with a complaint and answer and his advice to the trial court that what was required was the filing of a new lawsuit with filing fee, cover sheet, etc.<sup>12</sup>

The issue of "who decides, where an arbitration provision exists, if a dispute is decided in arbitration or in trial court" was addressed directly and specifically in colloquy at the opening of the MSJ hearing. The issue was briefed by the Petitioner in the Proposed Order<sup>13</sup> with suggested Findings, Conclusions and Decisions with cited authority.

Nevertheless, the trial court's ruling that new litigation was required and would have been recognized by an attorney of reasonable experience rendered this Motion frivolous with such an obvious flaw deserving of Cr 11 sanction.<sup>14</sup> The trial court erred in making this ruling.

MOOTNESS: The Division III unpublished opinion in this matter held moot the case substance regarding arbitrability Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment. The mandate for the trial court to decide arbitrability was disregarded yielding a result directly conflicting with existing Washington State case and statute law.

<sup>14</sup> RP 17/20-21; 18/23-19/1; 25/1-6; 25/19-22; 26/17-24; 25/23-24;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> RP 28/lines 9-19; 29/lines 6-9 Appendix

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> RP page 6/line 5; 11/15-21; 13/25; 14/7-9; 15/1-2; 15/7-12; 16/18-20; 19/1-6; 21/5-6; 16/23-17/4; 17/15-16; 24/line 25; 26;19-22; 29/6-9; 31/18-32/5; 29/32

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Petitioner's Proposed Order - CP 328-34; Exhibit C' Proposed Order on Defendant's (Petitioner's) Motion for Termination of the LICENSEE AGREEMENT; CP 331 lines 16-20 in Petitioner's Proposed Order – *Davis, supra* 152 Wn.App. 715(Div. 2 2009); *Godfrey v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co.*, 142 Wn.2d 885, 16 P.3d 617 (2001)

Division III overlooked and refused comprehend arbitrability. The imposition of Cr 11 sanctions result from the trial court's failure to consider *Davis*, supra, and *Evertt*, supra resulting in the conclusion that Petitioner's Motion was flawed justifying Cr 11 sanctions.

Respondent advises that sanctions of approximately \$29,000 will be sought. The fact that there was an arbitrability issue requiring a decision of arbitration or trial court and the imposition of Cr 11 sanctions causes Petitioner to urge that, regarding MOOTNESS:

"However, the court will make an exception to this rule and address a [this] moot case "...[since]... it can be said that matters of continuing and substantial public interest are involved."<sup>15</sup>

Arbitration was discussed in colloquy with the trial court with suggestions that arbitration might or was being ordered. In light of the discussion regarding the availability of Arbitration Petitioner raised the issue of the staying of Case 13-2-01982-0 if arbitration was ordered. In colloquy Petitioner's counsel drew the court's attention to the requirement that a superior court case be stayed if the trial court's decision was to be refer the case to Arbitration. Neither Respondent counsel or the trial court to grasped the significance<sup>16</sup> of the options held by the trial court with this clear in light of the court's inquiry of Respondent counsel's thoughts on the matter of the Petitioner's counsel's advice of authority requiring stay if arbitration was the result. Respondent counsel didn't know the basis for the suggestion that Stay would be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>. Eyman v. Ferguson, 433 P.3d 863 (Div. 2 2019)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> RP 27/lines 16-18.

ordered.<sup>17</sup> Petitioner concluded that neither Respondent counsel nor the trial court had reviewed RCT's Proposed Order<sup>18</sup> and that neither were aware of the trial court and arbitrability.

#### DIVISION III'S SUPPLEMENTATION OF RECORD ON APPEAL: Petitioner

observes with interest and concern Division III's supplementation of the Record evidenced in the Unpublished Opinion as follows:

First – Division III Opinion at 11, Exhibit A Appendix: "To obtain relief, RCT needed to initiate a new cause of action (which has since been done). It was not appropriate to attempt to piggyback off of an unrelated, preexisting case."

The statement "(which has since been done) is wrong. Case 13-2-01982-0 is not closed and a new cause of action, a new case, has not been initiated. What was the source of the "(which has since been done)" conclusion. Was it from a discussion, the review of a pleading or email, from a teleconference? Who would know other than a trial judge or attorney or clerk or court reporter?

Has Division III engaged in an ex parte communication? A communication which bolsters the "notion" that a new cause of action is what was required? A communication or record inspection or a lunch supporting the need for a "new cause of action" with that need flying in the face of the R.C.W. 7.04A.220 Motion commencing the Superior Court involvement with an Arbitration Award? No "new cause of action" with summons, complaint et al needed here.

Second—At Opinion 11-12 Division III states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> RP 27/lines 9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 328-340 Appendix Exhibit C from Clerks Papers.

"Finally, RCT lacked a viable basis for requesting CR 11 sanctions against counsel for SBP. When the superior court pressed counsel for RCT to explain its sanctions motion, counsel for RCT simply stated that it was entitled to prevail on the merits of its request to terminate the Agreement. This does not come close to meeting the criteria for CR 11 sanctions. A party's pleadings are not subject to CR 11 sanctions simply because they are unsuccessful. Instead, as set forth above, CR 11 is aimed at preventing baseless filings that are not grounded in fact or law. RCT failed to provide any explanation of how SBP's court filings (which were ultimately successful) failed to meet this standard.

Division III does not cite to the Record on Appeal for the statement that "RCT simply stated that it was entitled to prevail on the merits of its request to terminate the Agreement."

The Statement does not consider the colloquy at RP 23/line 5 to page 24/line20 where counsel's comments to the trial court support the contention that Respondent's pleadings and arguments were for the improper purpose of requiring the bringing of motion, appearance and argument while the breach of contract was admitted, the denial of facts admitted by Respondent's counsel Jeffrey Smith, urging that there were no claims left while Respondent had notice, seen in the record on appeal. (RP 23/5-15). Further, at RP 24/9-20, counsel addressed the Respondent's filing Declarations in response the Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment which were speculative and not made with evidentiary sufficiency to present a disputed material fact. Who or what was the source for this Division III erroneous comment?

Case 13-2-01982-0 remains. A Motion, separate from that of concern in this Petition for Discretionary Review but which regards the same issues, was set for May 17, 2019 was denied and has been appealed.

However, Petitioner arrives at the conclusion that Division III and the trial court would deem these Cr 11 issues as failing in that they do not engage the Respondent's and trial court's and Division III's conclusion that new litigation is required and that the trial court has somehow lost its "authority to use all means needed to judge" existing case 13-2-01982-0.

CR 11 SANCTIONS: The purpose of CR 11 is to prevent baseless filings. *Biggs v. Vail*, 124 Wn.2d 193, 197, 876 P.2d 448 (1994); *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 219, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992); *Bryant*, 119 Wn.2d at219-20. The court must assess "whether a reasonable attorney in like circumstances could believe his or her actions to be factually and legally justified." *Id.* at 220. A court should impose sanctions only when it is "patently clear that a claim has absolutely no chance of success." *Skimming v. Boxer*, 119 Wn. App. 748, 755, 82 P.3d 707 (2004). CR 11 sanctions are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 754. and an award will not be reversed unless "its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass 'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). This standard is met only when the order falls outside the bounds of a decision a reasonable person could make. *State v. Castellanos*, 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997).

#### PETITIONER'S MOTION WAS REASONABLE-NOT PATENTLY CLEAR

ABSOLUTLY NO CHANCE OF SUCCESS: Petitioner's Motion sought the trial courts confirmation of the Arbitrator's Award and the order Terminating the License Agreement. And, if not then referral to Arbitration. Petitioner's Motion and Memorandum directed the trial court to the arbitration provisions denying arbitration unless cure was allowed. The failure of certain performance was a condition not curable. Respondent proffered declarations without evidentiary soundness. The trial court could have ruled for Petitioner. The trial court could have ordered arbitration.

The CR 11 sanctions were not proper and this Division III decision should be reversed.

CONCLUSION: Following the denial of RCT's Motion, Petitioner commenced Arbitration with the Decision Terminating the License Agreement. Before the Arbitrator were the same parties, the same License Agreement and the same License provision requiring performance as required by June 1, 2016 and the Superior Court Judgment entered in 2012. The Arbitrator's Decision was that performance had not occurred and that the Licensing Agreement was Terminated.

Respondent has continued sales regardless of the Arbitrator's Termination of the Licensing Agreement. In May, 2019, Petitioner moved to have the trial court reduce the Arbitrator's Decision to a Spokane County Superior Court Order and Judgment and to enjoin SBP from continuing sales following the Termination. Before the trial court in May 2019 were the same parties RCT and SBP, the same Licensing Agreement, the same 2012 Judgment, and a new Arbitration Decision Terminating the Licensing Agreement. The trial court had the same authority in case 13-2-01982-0 as existed since 2012 when other judges considered and ruled on Motions for Contempt, Injunction, Receivership, the Judge in May 2019 had a Motion to consider and rule on.

Court of Appeals Division III is aware that the order denying the May 2019 Motion for Order and Judgment has been appealed to Division III.

The Division III comment at Opinion page 10 refers to the May 2019 appearance in Case 13-2-01982-0 as procedurally unrelated to the present Motion for Discretionary Review but which Petitioner will present to the Supreme Court via a Motion to Consolidate when this Petition for Discretionary Review has been filed and the Clerks Papers are filed with Division III in the matter currently pending before Division III.

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