FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/30/2019 2:59 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97539-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SETH BURRILL PRODUCTIONS, INC., a Washington corporation,
Respondent,

VS.

REBEL CREEK TACKLE, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellant/Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

J. Christopher Lynch WSBA #17462 Sarah E. Elsden WSBA #51158 Lee & Hayes, PC 601 West Riverside, Suite 1400 Spokane, Washington 99201

Attorney for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court should deny the Petition because the Petition fails to show that RCT is an aggrieved party under RAP 3.1.

RCT, like SBP, is a small, family owned, local business. Neither company has money to spend on litigation with no rational objective. Regrettably, none of RCT's counsel's actions that led to the Contempt Ruling (and Appeal One), the Receiver Ruling (and Appeal Two), the Sanctions Ruling (and Appeal Three), or the Wrong Case Ruling (and Appeal Four) could have benefitted RCT, even if it had been successful.

RCT has nothing to gain in this Appeal Three, and RCT could lose more attorneys' fees. Indeed, RCT appears not to be a real party in interest in the Petition. Washington courts have long held that for a party to be aggrieved, the decision must adversely affect that party's property or pecuniary rights, or a personal right, or impose on a party a burden or obligation. *Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 150, 437 P.3d 677, 681 (2019) (quotations and citations omitted).

RCT's requests for arbitration are moot because the arbitration it sought already concluded with the award fully satisfied. The CR 11 sanctions were lodged against RCT's counsel, not RCT. Only an aggrieved party may seek appellate review. RAP 3.1.

Although an attorney may appeal sanctions on his own behalf, counsel for RCT did not appeal on his own behalf as an aggrieved party. RCT was not legally injured by the Appeal Three Decision and, therefore, lacks standing to seek further appellate review.³ *Id*.

B. The Court should also deny the Petition because the Petition fails to meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(a).

Dismissal of the Petition is appropriate under the procedural requirements for a Petition for Discretionary Review of RAP 13.4(a). As detailed in SBP's Opposition to RCT's Motion to Extend Time, the Petition was not timely filed and the filing fee was not timely paid.

C. The Court should also deny the Petition because the issues presented do not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

Dismissal of the Petition is appropriate under the substantive requirements of RAP 13.4(b) which identifies the only four circumstances this Court considers in granting discretionary review. The Petition fails to

8

³ SBP is uncertain of the present relationship between RCT and its counsel, but RCT's irrational litigiousness shows that RCT may be detached from the decision-making. For example, RCT's Petition, its Motion for Extension of Time, and the record from Appeal Three include no testimony from RCT. RCT's counsel appears to be acting unilaterally and for his own purposes in commission of RCT's litigation harassment campaign.

demonstrate a significant question as to applicability of any of the four circumstances.

1. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), there is no Court of Appeals conflict with the Supreme Court. RCT provides no case law to demonstrate such a conflict exists between the Appeal Three Decision and a decision of the Supreme Court.

Indeed, the Supreme Court's decisions comport with the decision of the Court of Appeals in Appeal Three. First, the Court of Appeals found that RCT's challenge to the superior court's summary judgment ruling, ruling on arbitrability, and motion for stay have been rendered moot by the outcome of arbitration. Therefore, the Court of Appeals could not provide further relief. *State of Wash. v. T.J.S.-M.*, 193 Wn.2d 450, 454, 441 P.3d 1181, 1184 (2019) (stating this Court "do[es] not consider questions that are moot) (citations omitted).

Second, the Supreme Court has long held that it will not reverse a superior court's CR 11 decision unless "its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). The Court of Appeals found several reasons why CR 11 sanctions against RCT's counsel were justified. The Court of Appeals properly applied and analyzed the

lower court's decision through an abuse of discretion standard. Finding no abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's sanctions finding. The application of the abuse of discretion standard is in direct alignment with the Supreme Court's decisions on the issue of CR 11 sanctions.

2. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), there is no Court of Appeals conflict with a written decision of the Court of Appeals.

Again, RCT has failed to cite one decision from any division of the Washington Court of Appeals in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in Appeal Three. To the contrary, all divisions of the Court of Appeals apply the same standard when reviewing moot cases and cases for CR 11 sanctions under an abuse of discretion standard. Like the Supreme Court, case law from all divisions in this State directly align with the Court of Appeals' affirmation of the lower court's decision here in Appeal Three. See, e.g., In re Parentage of Infant Child F., 178 Wn. App. 1, 9, 313 P.3d 451 (2013) (where proceedings are moot, the court cannot provide relief); Timberland Bank v. Mesaros, No. 50207-1-II, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 1158, *7, 2018 WL 2215463 (Div II, May 15, 2018) (same); 4518 S. 256th, LLC v. Karen L. Gibbon, PS, 195 Wn. App. 423, 433, 382 P.3d 1 (2016) (same); see also, e.g., Skimming v. Boxer, 119 Wn. App. 748, 756, 82 P.3d

707 (2004) (adjudging CR 11 sanctions based on whether decision was unreasonable or on untenable grounds); *Heckard v. Murray*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 586, 594-595, 428 P.3d 141 (2018) (same); *Stiles v. Kearney*, 168 Wn. App. 250, 263, 277 P.3d 9 (2012) (same).

RCT fails to demonstrate that the Appeal Three Decision is in any way in conflict with any other Washington Court of Appeals decision regarding CR 11 sanctions and moot issues.

3. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) require a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), there is no significant question of law under the Constitution of Washington or the United States. Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), there is no issue of substantial public interest requiring determination by the Supreme Court. RCT has not clearly stated any significant question of law pertaining to the Constitution of the State of Washington nor the United States. Similarly, RCT has not articulated any issue of substantial public interest which should be decided by the Supreme Court. RCT has failed to simply identify, argue, or articulate any of the above. Because RCT has failed to comply with RAP 13.4(b), this Court should deny its petition for review.

D. The Court should award SBP its attorneys' fees and issue sanctions because the untimely Petition does not meet any of the criterion required to bring this appeal.

RCT filed its Petition in violation of three fundamental provisions of the RAP, in addition to the main point that RCT's appeal is about an exercise of discretion already found to have been proper. RAP 3.1 was violated since RCT is not an aggrieved party, only its counsel is aggrieved. RAP 13.4(a) was violated because RCT did not file its Petition on time with the required filing fee. RAP 13.4(b) was violated because RCT did not identify which of the four circumstances that justify discretionary review are applicable and provable.

RCT's Petition is meritless. RCT's Petition makes no legal or economic sense – neither party has anything to gain. RCT's Petition was filed in violation of the Rules. RCT's Petition again delays finality for SBP. Most egregiously, RCT's Petition was filed as another chapter in its inexplicable campaign of litigation harassment, of which RCT's most recent "Motion to Consolidate" is a part. SBP continues to be harmed directly by RCT's counsel's harassment campaign – SBP is still involved in litigation that should have been fully completed years ago, and SBP is still paying attorneys' fees to fight RCT's litigation cavalcade.

Because RCT (i) filed its Petition for purposes of delay, (ii) filed a frivolous appeal, and (iii) failed to comply with the applicable rules to the

detriment of SBP, SBP respectfully requests an award of attorneys' fees and sanctions pursuant to RAP 18.1 and RAP 18.9. In particular, SBP also specifically requests an Order prohibiting RCT's counsel from continuing the litigation harassment campaign.

VI. CONCLUSION

RCT's Petition is improper under the law and the Rules of this Court. The Court of Appeals, in its decision, found the appeal (and all prior appeals before it) without merit and noted RCT did not present any debatable issue. Now RCT submits its Petition. However, in asking the Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals decision affirming the order denying RCT's summary judgment motion and granting sanctions against its counsel, RCT fails to comply with any aspect of RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, SBP respectfully asks the Supreme Court to deny RCT's Petition and to award SBP attorneys' fees and sanctions.